Lindensmith v. Webb et al

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF MICHIGAN
SOUTHERN DIVISION

DAVID LINDENSMITH,
Plaintiff, CasaNo. 16-cv-11230
Hon.Mark A. Goldsmith
VS.

RONALD WEBSB, et al.,

Defendants.
/

OPINION & ORDER ACCEPTING THE REPORT & RECOMMENDATION DATED
APRIL 29, 2016 (Dkt. 9), OVERRULING PLAINTIFF’'S OBJECTIONS (Dkt. 10),
DENYING THE PENDING MOTION TO DISIMSS (Dkt. 11) AS MOOT, AND
DISMISSING THE CASE WITH PREJUDICE

This action is brought by a pro se plaintifhose application to pceed without prepaying
fees or costs was granted (Dkt. 3). On Ap8) 2016, Magistrate Judge Anthony P. Patti issued a
Report & Recommendation (“R&R”), which recorended that this Coudismiss Plaintiff's
complaint sua sponte under 28 U.S.C. § 1915(e) sedhe action is frivolus, malicious, or fails
to state a claim upon which relief may be grantekt.(B). Plaintiff timelyfiled objections to the
R&R (Dkt. 10). For the reasons stated belthe, Court accepts the recommendation contained in
the April 29, 2016 R&R, overrules&thtiff's objections to the R&R, denies Defendant Plummer’s
pending motion to dismiss (Dkt. 11) as maotd dismisses the case with prejudice.

The facts and procedural history of this case adequately set forth in the Magistrate
Judge’s April 29, 2016 R&R and need not be repeatezl Ha essence, Plaifif an inmate at the

Parnall Correctional Facility idackson, Michigarrought this action under 42 U.S.C. § 1985
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against two fellow inmates (Dkt. 1) He charges Defendants wilstively depriving him of his
First Amendment right to the free exercise o taligion. Plaintiff doesot allege any wrongful
conduct on the part of the Michigan fetment of Corrections (“MDOC.

Section 1985 provides redressat@laintiff who is a victim of a conspiracy to violate his

civil rights. See generally 42 U.S.C. § 198% s#so Griffin v. Breckenridge, 403 U.S. 88, 101

(1971). “[T]he Supreme Court sixonsistently held thatasims under § 1985(3), unlike those
under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, need not gdldhat the deprivation occurratlthe hands of the state.”

Volunteer Med. Clinic, Inc. v. Operation Resc048 F.2d 218, 225 (6th Cit991) (citing Griffin,

403 U.S. at 99). Itis not immediately fatal to Pldifis claim, therefore, that he brings this action
against his fellow inmates wibut alleging any state action.

However, the absence of alleged state action is fatal to a § 1985 claim that is founded upon
a First Amendment violation. Section 1985(3) claaresnot free-standing; the alleged conspiracy
must have been directed at established, “otiser existing rights.” _Id. at 226. “[W]here a
conspiracy is alleged to violate a right thabysdefinition a right only aginst state interference,

such as the rights secured underHirst and Fourteenth Amendntgrthe complainant must first

! The R&R interprets Plaintiff's complaint dseing brought under both 42 U.S.C. 88 1983 and
1985(3). R&R at 2. The R&R recommends {tiatthe extent the oaplaint is brought under

§ 1983, it should be dismissed because a vialslien brought under thattatute requires an
allegation that the deprivatiarf Plaintiff's rights was caused by a person acting under color of
state law._See R&R at 5-6.

Plaintiff’'s objections clarify that his complaims founded solely upon § 1985; as a matter of
convenience, his complaint used the form papekvhat was available to him, which happened
to contain some pre-printed language concer8ii®83. PI. Objs. at 1-2Plaintiff disavows a

§ 1983 claim and urges this Court not to analyze hisnsl under that theory. Id. at 2. This Court
will oblige; Plaintiff's complaint and objectiorie the R&R will be analyzed under § 1985 only.

2 The complaint’s only reference to the MDOC iattit restricts the praice of one’s religion to
one’s cell. Compl. at 8 (cm/ecf page). Rtdf does not begrudge MDOC its policy, and, more
importantly, MDOC is not named as a defendant.
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show ‘that the State is involved the conspiracy or that the aimthie conspiracy is to influence

the activity of the State.”_Id. (quoting Unitd®hd. of Carpenters & Joiners v. Scott, 463 U.S.

825, 830 (1983)) (emphasis added).

The R&R properly recognizes that the “othesaviexisting right” that Plaintiff asserts —
his right to the free exercise of his religier can only be assertedgainst governmental
interference._ld. Stated diffet®yn private parties, such as Dafiants in this case, cannot violate
a person’s First Amendment rights if they are axitng under color of law. See Scott, 463 U.S.
at 833 (“Because [the First] Amendment ressaonly official condut; to make out their
8 1985(3) case, it was necessary for respondepi®i@ that the Stat®as somehow involved in
or affected by the conspiracy.”).

Defendant’s objections claim that “the Magage quotes [Griffin v. Breckenridge] for the

proposition that § 1985(3) does nadicate the violation of Firskmendment rights.” PIl. Objs.
at 3. But Plaintiff's recitatioof the R&R is inaccurate. Rahthan claiming that § 1985 cannot
vindicate one’s First Amendment rights — whigbuld, indeed, be a misstatement of the law —
the R&R explains that “an allegednspiracy to infringe First Amendment rights is not a violation
of 8§ 1985(3) unless it is pved that the State iavolved in the conspiracyr that the aim of the
conspiracy is to influence thectivity of the State.” R&R a8 (quoting_Scott, 463 U.S. at 830)
(emphasis added). This quatdikion explains that § 1985 doesdicate the viation of First
Amendment rights. Plaintiff's problem, howeverthat he makes no plab$e claim that his First
Amendment rights were violated; he makes nagalien of State involveant in the conspiracy
or that the aim of the conspiraaas to influence activity of the Seat His claim, therefore, fails
to state a claim on which relief can be deah) which warrants sua sponte dismissal under 28

U.S.C. § 1915(e).



For the reasons set forth above, the Courtjgiscthe Magistrate Judge’s recommendation
dated April 29, 2016 (Dkt. 9); overes Plaintiff's objections ther@{Dkt. 10); denies the pending
motion to dismiss (Dkt. 11) as moot; and dismid8ksntiff's claim with pejudice. _See, e.q.,

Umbarger v. Correctional Med. Servs., 93App’'x 734, 735-736 (6th @i 2004) (affirming

district court’s dismissal, with prejudiciyr failure to state a claim under § 1915(e)).

SO ORDERED.
Dated: July 12, 2016 s/Mark A. Goldsmith
Detroit, Michigan MARKA. GOLDSMITH

UnitedStatedDistrict Judge

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

The undersigned certifies that the foregoing documes served upon counsel of record and any
unrepresented parties via the Court's ECF Systéhetorespective email or First Class U.S. mail
addresses disclosed on the Not€&lectronic Filing on July 12, 2016.

s/KarriSandusky
Case Manager




